IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a referee)

FILED 9-1/ SID J. WHITE AUG 18 1998

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Sy

Shief Deputy Clerk

VS

APPEAL DOCKET: CASE NO: 91,753 [TFB Case No. 97-30,790(07A)]

WALTER BENTON DUNAGAN

Respondent	
	
	INITIAL BRIEF

Submitted by:

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Husband and Wife had been represented at various times in the past by Respondent. Upon dissolution the Husband chose to retain Respondent as his attorney. The Wife chose to retain Dave Beck as her counsel. The issue of possible conflict was raised ab initio. No prior matter handled by Respondent related to the divorce. The Wife through her attorney Dave Beck consented to the representation of the Husband by Respondent. At an emergency hearing, virtually immediately after filing, substantially all issues were settled with equal division of property. Eight months after the suit was filed the wife engaged a criminal defense attorney to represent her as to a charge of disorderly conduct. On the suggestion of this attorney having nothing to do with the dissolution, Respondent withdrew.

There was no conflict; there was consent; 91 days suspension is inappropriate as discipline, if discipline is warranted.

III ARGUMENT

A. WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED BY INTERPRETING RULES 4-1.7(b) AND 4.1.9(a) OF THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT REQUIRING CONSULTATION, AS TO CONFLICT OF INTEREST TO REQUIRE RESPONDENT TO OBTAIN CONSENT FROM FORMER CLIENT AND NOT FROM FORMER CLIENT'S NEW ATTORNEY.

Rules 4-1.7 and 4-1.9 forbid representation of adverse interests, unless there is consultation and consent. Rule 4-1.7(a)(2); 4-1.7(b)(2); 4-1.9(a). The Referee interpreted these rules to mean that PAULA LEUCHT had to be consulted, directly by Respondent, after she had retained attorney DAVE BECK. (V3 p 15 L 6-17). This ruling violates Rule 4-4.2, which requires that an attorney speak only with an attorney where a person is represented by an attorney.

"...(At) that point..." (V3 L 10), at a critical moment in time, the Referee found that attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN was obliged to do what he was forbidden to do.

Prior to consent being a necessity there must be a bona fide conflict. Either conflict between existing clients as to the same subject matter; Florida Bar vs Ethier, 261 So 817 (Fla 1992) (Dissolution); or, a subsequent client as to the same or a similar subject matter where a former client was represented. Sears, Roebuck & Co. vs Stansbury,

374 So 2d 1051 (Fla 5th DCA 1979)(representing manufacturer then consumer on product liability as to the craftsman mower).

B. WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED BY FAILING TO FIND THE FORMER CLIENT, THROUGH HER NEW ATTORNEY, CONSENTED TO RESPONDENT'S REPRESENTING THE FORMER CLIENT'S HUSBAND AND WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO COMPLAIN.

The affidavit of Attorney Dave Beck, (Respondent's Exhibit 3), stipulated into evidence, (VI p L 4-25, and VI p 7 L 1-18) sets forth the fact that he discussed the possibility of conflict, and that PAULA LEUCHT could consent or not consent to the representation of her husband WILLIAM LEUCHT by her former attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN. PAULA LEUCHT pursuant to consultation and advice of her attorney DAVE BECK granted consent for attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN to represent the husband which Dave Beck communicated directly to WALTER B. DUNAGAN on several occasions. (V2 p 116, 117 and 118). The progress docket (the Bar's Exhibit 7) shows attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN remained in the case through change of counsel, and until attorney MARCUS CORNELIUS suggested a conflict, and attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN withdrew.

The affidavits of Attorney Beck are stipulated into evidence (V1 p 6 L 6-25, p 7 L 1-5). When Attorney Beck undertook the representation of PAULA LEUCHT,

LEUCHT by Respondent he was required to report it to the Bar. ABA Code DR1-103, ABA Model Rule 8.3, Fla. Rule 4-8.3(a), or at least object. It is clear from the affidavits of Attorney Beck and his conduct that he adequately discussed the matter with PAULA LEUCHT and assured her of her rights, including the right to consent to the representation by Respondent of WILLIAM LEUCHT, allowing Respondent to remain in the case.

Attorney Marcus Cornelius is clear that conflict of interest was discussed ab initio and the right to require Respondent to withdraw (V1 p 27 L 25, p 28 L 1-18). When the Bar asked PAULA LEUCHT about the matter PAULA LEUCHT testified that Attorney Beck told her such representation could be a conflict and PAULA LEUCHT had the right to require Respondent to withdraw. He did advise PAULA LEUCHT to consent to the continuing representation of WILLIAM LEUCHT by Respondent (V1 p 49 L 22-25, p 50 L 1-12). On cross-examination, PAULA LEUCHT said she made no 'conformed' consent, or, at least none in writing, although she did in fact consent that Respondent remain in the case, for reasons sufficient to her. (V1 p 82 L 14-25, p 83 L 1-9). The Court then said or asked PAULA LEUCHT something to the effect that 'there was then no discussion, was there'. She then agreed

although all testimony is contrary (V1 p 97 L 5-12).

Consent after consultation is clear. Snyderburn vs Bantock, 626 So 2d 7 (Fla 5th DCA 1993). There was otherwise a duty to object: to speak out against continued representation. ibid. The opposite was done in that Respondent testified he conferred with attorney Dave Beck while representing PAULA LEUCHT on at least three occasions concerning potential conflicts and consent. (V2 p 116, 117 and 118).

C. WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED BY INTERPRETING THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT THAT, THE FORMER CLIENT AFTER CONSULTATION WITH HER NEW ATTORNEY, AND HER FAILURE TO TIMELY OBJECT TO ANY POTENTIAL CONFLICT, WAS NOT CONSENT.

PAULA LEUCHT'S testimony was that she had retained Mr. Beck as counsel prior to going to the restaurant where she was arrested for disorderly conduct on March 2, 1996. (V1 p 42 and 43; her pleadings for the emergency hearing are dated March 1, 1996). From March 1, 1996 until October 31, 1996 when attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN moved for leave to withdraw there is no suggestion that there was a lack of consent or conflict. This is a period of approximately eight (8) months.

Although attorney Beck represents that express, informed consent was obtained ab initio, it would be unconscionable to remain silent and allow opposing counsel to believe that consent has been obtained, and then later deny this to be the case, and to

affirm that the opposite is true. See Snyderburn v Bantock, 625 So 2d 7 (Fla 5th DCA 1993).

In addition, a finding that Attorney David Beck had not obtained consent, proceeded without consent, or overrode the objections of his client rather than seeking the lawful objectives of his client would be a violation of Rules of Professional Responsibility. Rule 4-1.2.

D. WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED BY INTERPRETING
THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT TO FIND A
BONA FIDE CONFLICT, EVEN WHEN THE FORMER
CLIENT TESTIFIED THE RESPONDENT'S PRIOR
REPRESENTATION WAS NOT MATERIAL TO THE
DIVORCE ACTION; FORMER CLIENT SUFFERED NO
PROPERTY LOSS, AND ANY DISCLOSURE TO THE
THIRD PERSONS WAS TO PREVENT COMMISSION OF
CRIME OR PHYSICAL INJURY.

PAULA LEUCHT testified as to each claimed act of prior legal representation by Respondent that the same was not material to the divorce proceedings, and no confidential information was obtained that related to the divorce proceedings. (Bay-Walsh, V1 p 59 L 10-25, p 60 L 1-25, p 61 L 1-25; Dept. of Transportation, V1 p 62 L 2-25, p 63 L 1-25, p 64 L 1-25, p 65 L 1-4; Bill of Sale, V1 p 65 L 5-25, p 66 L 1-25, p 67 L 1-6, fictitious name, p 67 L 7-25, p 68 L 1-17).

The Referee found that PAULA LEUCHT lost no property and suffered no

prejudice out of any conflict, which might have existed. (Report of Referee p 6 second paragraph from bottom).

There was a letter from attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN to the attorney for the City of Port Orange; and the identical letter was sent to the Port Orange Police. Bar Exhibit 4 and 5. The letters are dated February 23, 1996 and inform the recipient of the pending termination of two employees as of February 29, 1996, so that on March 1, 1996 they would no longer be welcome, and would be trespassing. The first sentence of the next to last paragraph of the letter says that "(y)ou are being notified in order to prevent a breach of peace from occurring."

A violation of 4-1.6 for disclosing confidential information is not charged. (See paragraph 18 of Complaint. The Bar does refer to 4-1.6 in Paragraph 10 and 15). The disclosure made is permitted by 4-1.6(b)(1). The Referee found the (irrelevant) 4-1.6 was used by attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN as a defense (RR #23 p 4). However, the Referee uses 4-1.6(b)(2) only as to death or substantial bodily harm, and omits reference to 4-1.6(b)(1) which refers to any crime - which disorderly conduct is. ibid. In fact, the Referee finds that attorney WALTER B. DUNAGAN was responsible for the arrest of PAULA LEUCHT (ibid), even though Ms. Leucht was charged with disorderly conduct and not trespass. The stress that the Bar placed on 4-1.6, and the

deviation from "(b)(1)" to "(b)(2)" was highly material to the findings of the Court, and materially prejudiced the Court and respondent.

E. WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED BY INTERPRETING
THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT TO REQUIRE
RESPONDENT TO SERVE A 91 DAY SUSPENSION ON A
CONFLICT WHICH IN PART WAS CAUSED BY THE CONDUCT
OF ACQUIESCENCE BY THE FORMER CLIENT, WHEN
THE PRIOR REPRESENTATION WAS NOT MATERIAL TO ANY
THEORETICAL CONFLICT, WHERE THE FORMER CLIENT
SUFFERED NO PROPERTY LOSS, OR ANY APPARENT PREJUDICE
IN HER DIVORCE CASE, AND THE RESPONDENT RECEIVED
NO FINANCIAL BENEFIT.

Suspension for 91 days is not appropriate when there is a possibility of conflict and before an action is taken, everyone secures counsel to represent them, and all consent to representation by such counsel of their own choosing. At the initial stage, there was counsel and consent to what might otherwise appear to be conflict. (V1 p 42 and 43; Respondent's Exhibit 3). There is no suggestion of any alleged conflict until eight months after the divorce proceeding had begun.

There is no evidence of any property loss by PAULA LEUCHT nor any financial gain by Respondent.

CONCLUSION

The Referee is attempting to establish new law that consent can only be obtained directly from the former client and suggests that such consent be in writing. Although

this may be attractive for a future amendment of the Rules of Professional Conduct, such is not the law today.

In reviewing the facts of this case in their entirety, the Respondent had represented PAULA LEUCHT on matters which did not pertain to the dissolution of marriage; Respondent had consent or believed he had consent from his former client; through her new attorney; PAULA LEUCHT was aware of her rights but consented to her husband being represented by Respondent for a period of no less than eight months; and lastly there was no evidence of any property or legal rights being lost by the former client nor the respondent receiving financial gain from any alleged conflict. With such a factual scenario the interpretation of the Rules of Professional Conduct by the Referee are unnervingly harsh, as is the punishment.

This Honorable Court should reverse the Referee on his interpretation of consent, find for the Respondent, or reduce the punishment to fairly address the facts of this case.