IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILE CLERK, SUPREME COURT 8y_ Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 91,753 [TFB Case No. 97-30,790 (07A)]

v.

WALTER BENTON DUNAGAN,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 253847

AND

JAN K. WICHROWSKI Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1200 Edgewater Drive Orlando, Florida, 32804-6314 (407) 425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 381586

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Seventh Judicial Grievance Committee "A" voted to find probable cause in this matter on August 15, 1997, and the bar filed its complaint on November 5, 1997. The referee was appointed to hear this case on November 17, 1997. The final hearing was held on March 31, 1998. The referee served his report on June 23, 1998, recommending the respondent be found guilty of violating rules 4-1.7(a) for representing a client when the representation of that client will be directly adverse to the interests of another client; 4-1.7(b) for representing a client when the lawyer's exercise of independent professional judgment in the representation of that client may be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client or to a third interests; 4-1.9(a) the lawyer's own for person or by representing another person in the same or substantially related matter as the representation of a former client where that person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client and the former client has not consented after consultation; 4-1.9(b) for using information relating to the representation to the disadvantage of the former client; and 4for failing decline representation where 1.16(a) to representation will result in a violation of the Rules of

Professional Conduct or law. The referee recommended the respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of ninety-one days, with proof of rehabilitation required before reinstatement.

The respondent served a petition for review on July 21, 1998. The bar's board of governors considered this matter at its August, 1998, meeting and voted not to seek an appeal. The respondent served his initial brief on August 17, 1998.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In July, 1992, the respondent represented William and Paula Leucht in the formation of their restaurant business. (ROR-A2; B-Ex. 1; T Vol. I p. 38). On July 8, 1992, the respondent prepared a Bill of Sale which purported to transfer certain assets of the business to the joint ownership of William and Paula Leucht. (ROR-A2; Attachment 2 to B-Ex. 1; T Vol. II p. 113). Paula Leucht wanted to ensure that her ownership interest she had invested a secured because in the business was considerable sum of money. (T Vol. I p.p. 13, 65-66). The respondent assured her that the Bill of Sale he prepared would secure her ownership position in the business. (T Vol. I p.p. 34-35). The respondent prepared the necessary paperwork for the fictitious name filing but omitted including Paula Leucht's name on the registration form. (ROR-A2; Attachment 1 to B-Ex. 1; T Vol. II p.p. 113-114, 147). From March, 1994, through December, 1995, the respondent represented the business and William and Paula Leucht in an eminent domain suit against the Florida Department of Transportation. (ROR-A2; T Vol. I p.p. 37, 62). In November, 1994, the respondent represented the business and William and Paula Leucht in partnership negotiations with Tamarie Althouse for the purpose of opening another restaurant in the

area. (ROR-A2; T Vol. I p.p. 33-34, 38).

On August 20, 1992, the respondent represented William Leucht and Paula Leucht in a commercial lease dispute with Bay-Walsh Properties (Florida), Inc., where Paula Leucht had been improperly joined as a party (ROR-A2; R-Ex. 1). The suit concerned a lease entered into by Mr. Leucht and his former wife during the operation of a prior restaurant business (ROR-A2; R-Ex. 1; T Vol. I p. 60). The respondent prepared and filed a responsive pleading or motion on behalf of Paula Leucht in the suit and was successful in having her dismissed as a party. (ROR-A2; R-Ex. 1; T Vol. II p.p. 108-109).

Sometime during 1995, the Leuchts began experiencing marital problems (T Vol. II p. 144) and Paula Leucht "caused a scene" at the restaurant Ms. Althouse managed (which was the second restaurant the Leuchts opened). (T Vol. II p. 127). Thereafter, the respondent mailed two letters, one to the Port Orange Police Department and another to the city attorney, (ROR-A2; B-Ex. 4; B-Ex. 5; T Vol. II p.p. 129-130) wherein he used information about Paula Leucht and her prior business arrangements to her disadvantage. (ROR-A2; B-Ex. 4; B-Ex. 5; T Vol. I p. 23, 40, 46-

47). The respondent possessed this knowledge and information because of his prior legal representation of Paula Leucht.

On February 26, 1996, the respondent completed a petition for dissolution of marriage on behalf of William Leucht against Paula Leucht which he filed with the clerk of the court on February 27, 1996. (ROR-A3; R-Ex. 4). On March 2, 1996, Paula Leucht was arrested and forcibly removed from the business for disorderly conduct and was further detained at the police station. (ROR-A3; B-Ex. 1; B-Ex. 3; T Vol. I p.p. 43, 46, 84). Ms. Leucht maintained that she was a co-owner of the restaurant and informed the police officers of this prior to, during, and after her arrest. (ROR-A3; B-Ex. 3; T Vol. I p.p. 40, 45-46).

In the divorce case, the court entered an order on May 2, 1996, holding that the Leuchts were to share equally in the net proceeds of the business. (ROR-A3; B-Ex. 2). The respondent did not withdraw from representing William Leucht in the divorce until October 21, 1996. (ROR-A3; B-Ex. 6; R-Ex. 4).

The referee found the evidence was clear that the respondent had represented both William and Paula Leucht in a number of

matters involving the restaurant business and that his representation of William Leucht in the divorce was an unethical conflict of interest. (ROR-A3-4). The respondent also used information he had gained by virtue of his prior representation of Paula Leucht to her disadvantage by writing the letters to the police department and the city attorney which contributed to her forcible removal from the restaurant and arrest. (ROR-A3-4). referee found the respondent demonstrated a lack of The understanding of "very basic ethical concepts" and noted the respondent's significant prior disciplinary history which included being disciplined for conflict of interest violations. (ROR-A5).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent's basic argument appears to boil down to a contention that the referee erred in concluding that the respondent's representation of William Leucht in the divorce matter constituted a conflict of interest because the respondent had previously represented Paula Leucht concerning substantially related matters. Further, the respondent argues that if he did engage in misconduct, a 91 day suspension is not warranted. The respondent's representation of William Leucht by writing letters to city officials seeking Paula Leucht's arrest was a conflict of interest that occurred prior to Paula Leucht's hiring of a new attorney and she did not waive the conflict of interest nor did the respondent consult with her prior to writing said letters. The respondent's later representation of William Leucht in the divorce was an inherent conflict of interest that could not be waived. That counsel may elect not to seek a disgualification of an opposing attorney for strategic, or other, reasons is not dispositive of the ethical issues presented in a bar disciplinary proceeding. The letters the respondent wrote to the Leuchts on August 25, 1992, and August 19, 1992, (Attachments 1 and 2 to B-Ex. 1) clearly show that Paula Leucht was a client of the respondent with respect to the formation of the business and

clearly the business was a marital asset (T Vol. II p. 119), and, as such, was a material item in the divorce case. The respondent moved to withdraw only after Paula Leucht retained counsel to sue the respondent for malpractice. (R-Ex. 4 p. 8). The respondent's prior disciplinary history, which includes prior instances of engaging in conflicts of interest, warrants the imposition of a suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation.

ARGUMENT POINT I

THE REFEREE'S LEGAL CONCLUSIONS THAT THE RESPONDENT ENGAGED IN AN IMPERMISSIBLE CONFLICT OF INTEREST WERE CORRECT.

Because Points A though D of the respondent's initial brief essentially argue the same issue, that the referee's legal conclusions were erroneous, the bar will address them under Point I of its argument here.

Ιt is clear from the evidence that the respondent represented both Paula Leucht and William Leucht in the formation of their restaurant business and that the venture was entered into during the time the Leuchts were married (Attachments 1, and 2 to B-Ex. 1), thus making the business marital property. Fla. Stat. $\S61.075(5)(a)1$ and 61.075(7). Therefore, the respondent possessed certain knowledge about this marital asset which was material to the parties' later divorce. The bar submits the conflict was so basic and fundamental that, from an ethical perspective, it mandated the respondent's withdrawal, regardless of whether opposing counsel was willing to agree not to seek the respondent's disqualification. Paula Leucht's first attorney in the divorce case, David B. Beck, could not have knowingly waived the conflict on Ms. Leucht's behalf, from an ethical perspective,

because it was too intrinsic to be waived. Further, the conflict commenced when the respondent wrote B-Ex. 4 and B-Ex. 5 to the city attorney and the police department. This was prior to the divorce being filed and thus prior to Mr. Beck's representation of Ms. Leucht. Paula Leucht never consented to the respondent Where a conflict of interest is a writing these letters. fundamental violation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, even a client's consent, after full disclosure, will not relieve attorney of his ethical duties or shield him from the disciplinary actions. The Florida Bar v. Feige, 596 So. 2d 433, In fact, a reading of the letters the 435 (Fla. 1992). respondent wrote to the police department and city attorney (B-4 and B-Ex. 5) just prior to filing the petition for Ex. dissolution of marriage for William Leucht clearly shows that the respondent was contesting the legality of the very document he had drafted. In each letter, the respondent stated "It is the case that at one time in the past a Bill of Sale was considered to put the business in the name of William and Paula Leucht. Such an instrument and the legal consequences thereof were duly considered, and it was determined with deliberation that William Leucht would remain the sole owner." It has been held that a lawyer represents conflicting interests "when it becomes his

duty, on behalf of one client, to contend for that which his duty to another client would require him to oppose." The Florida Bar <u>v. Moore</u>, 194 So. 2d 264, 269 (Fla. 1966). This court stated that the rule against engaging in such conflicts of interests is quite rigid because it was designed to prevent the dishonest lawyer from engaging in fraudulent conduct and to prevent the honest attorney from putting himself in a position where he might be called upon to choose between conflicting duties, or be led to try and reconcile the conflicting interests, rather than fully advocating the rights of a client. A lawyer should not even seek a consent from a client to represent conflicting interests where a disinterested lawyer, observing the situation, would conclude that the client should not agree to the representation. In re Captran Creditors Trust, 104 Bankr. 442 (M.D. Fla. 1989). The respondent drafted the Bill of Sale for the restaurant business. The ownership of the business was a central issue in the divorce. Paula Leucht testified that Mr. Beck never (T Vol. I p. 89). clearly advised her of her rights and possible prejudice in the respondent representing Mr. Leucht in the divorce. (T Vol. I p.p. 50-51, 88-89). The comment to rule 4-1.9 states that a waiver from a former client to a lawyer's representation of a new client with conflicting interests is effective only if the lawyer

makes a disclosure of the circumstances, including the lawyer's intended role on behalf of the new client, to the former client. Clearly, the respondent did not do this here. He wrote the two letters to the police department and the city attorney disputing the legality of the Bill of Sale and then undertook the representation of Mr. Leucht in the divorce without ever advising Paula Leucht of his *intended* role. The use of the term "intended" in the comment to the rule indicates that the lawyer disclosure prior to undertaking the must make the new representation, not after the fact. A lawyer should also document the disclosure and the former client's endorsement of the disclosure and the continuing representation of the new Khoury v. Estate of Kashev, 533 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 3d DCA client. 1988). Clearly the respondent did not do this here and, instead, seemingly relied on Paula Leucht's new attorney to fulfill the respondent's ethical obligations for him.

Although a referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and are not reviewable by this court unless they can be shown to be clearly erroneous or unsupported by the record, <u>The Florida Bar v. Pellegrini</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S357 (Fla. June 18, 1998), the referee's legal conclusions are subjected to closer

scrutiny. The Florida Bar v. Grosso, 647 So.2d 840, 841 (Fla. 1994). The bar submits that the record supports the referee's legal conclusions that the respondent should have obtained Paula Leucht's consent to his representation of William Leucht in the divorce, that Paula Leucht never waived or consented to the respondent's representation of William Leucht in the divorce where there were conflicting interests, and that the respondent confidential information relating revealed to his prior representation of Paula Leucht to the police department and the city attorney. Although the respondent makes much of the fact that he could not have directly communicated with Paula Leucht to obtain her consent to his representation of William Leucht in the divorce, in fact, he could have spoken to her prior to her retaining counsel, especially in light of the fact she testified that she did call his office, prior to calling any other attorney (T Vol. I p. 90). The ethical duty to obtain a former client's consent rests solely with the attorney who is seeking to represent conflicting interests, not with an attorney later hired by the former client. See the comment to rule 4-1.7 which states that it is the lawyer who is seeking to undertake the conflicting representation who bears the primary responsibility for resolving the conflict issue.

The referee found no merit to the respondent's argument, presented for the first time at the final hearing, that his intent in writing the letters to the city attorney and the police department (B-Ex. 4 and B-Ex. 5) was to prevent the commission of a crime or physical injury. (ROR-A4). Clearly, the respondent revealed confidential information concerning the Bill of Sale that was detrimental to Paula Leucht because he questioned the legality of the Bill of Sale he prepared for her. Further, the respondent's reliance on rule 4-1.6 as justification for having written the letters conflicts with his own argument that Paula Leucht was never a client. (T Vol. II p.p. 149, 156). The rule provides that disclosure of confidential information may be made only to prevent a *client* from committing a crime or to prevent death or substantial bodily injury. The respondent admitted in his testimony that his discussion in the letters of the Bill of Sale "could be construed as a revelation of something that's confidential." (T Vol. II p. 133).

POINT II THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF A 91 DAY SUSPENSION IS CORRECT IN LIGHT OF THE RESPONDENT'S PRIOR DISCIPLINARY HISTORY.

The bar submits the case law, the Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the respondent's prior disciplinary history for engaging in conflicts of interest support the referee's recommendation that the respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of ninety-one days.

In The Florida Bar Wilson, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S227 (Fla. April 16, 1998), the attorney was suspended for a period of one year after undertaking the representation of the wife in a dissolution of marriage action after having represented both the wife and the husband in other matters over the past years. The couple first contacted the lawyer after the wife won the lottery and wanted to share her winnings equally with her husband. The lawyer prepared and filed a petition for declaratory judgment against the lottery department on the couple's behalf. The referee specifically found the attorney had represented the husband in the declaratory judgment action. Thereafter, he represented the couple in several other matters including the purchase of a home, contacting the mortgage company when they

experienced problems in meeting their monthly payments, and he represented the husband on criminal charges and the wife on domestic violence charges. At some point, the husband consulted with the attorney about obtaining a divorce and the attorney advised the husband he could not handle the case because of his past representation of the wife. After the husband obtained counsel and initiated divorce proceedings, the attorney entered his appearance as counsel for the wife. Opposing counsel eventually moved to have the attorney disqualified and, after the court entered its order approving the disqualification, the attorney continued to be involved in the case by filing several motions, including one seeking recusal of the judge. The referee found there was a clear conflict of interest but that the husband suffered no prejudice. In aggravation, the attorney had a prior disciplinary history.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Jov</u>, 679 So. 2d 1165 (Fla. 1996), a lawyer was suspended for ninety-one days for representing clients with conflicting interests. Initially, he represented a father and son (I. Cantor and J. Cantor) in various personal and business matters over a period of years. Later, the Cantors became shareholders with another of the lawyer's clients, Cohen,

in a corporation that purchased and managed commercial real Later, the lawyer became suspicious of the Cantors and estate. discussed with Cohen his concerns that the Cantors might misappropriate funds from the corporation. The attorney received insurance settlement funds on behalf of the corporation and placed them into his trust account. When the Cantors and Cohen could not agree on how to best protect the funds from creditors, the lawyer removed the money and deposited it into an account in his wife's name without first advising the Cantors and Cohen. He then misrepresented to one of the corporate creditors that the funds had been disbursed. In addition, Cohen wished to protect his interest in the corporation from the Cantors and assigned his stock to the accused attorney without advising the Cantors. The referee found, and this court agreed, that the lawyer was representing a minority shareholder in a corporation at the same time as he was representing the corporation and attempted to secure the minority shareholder's interest in the insurance settlement funds rather than deliver all of the proceeds to the corporation as was required. In so doing, he violated his duties as escrow agent and made misrepresentations to the creditor who also had a potential interest in the funds. In mitigation, the lawyer had no prior disciplinary history, unlike the respondent.

The Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions also support a suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation. Standard 4.22 calls for a suspension when a lawyer knowingly reveals information relating to the representation of a client not otherwise lawfully permitted to be disclosed, and this disclosure causes injury or potential injury to a client. Standard 4.32 calls for a suspension when a lawyer knows of a conflict of interest and does not fully disclose to a client the possible effect of that conflict, and causes injury or potential injury to The respondent never advised Paula Leucht that his a client. representation of William Leucht could conflict with her own and he utilized information he interests gained through representing her to her disadvantage in writing B-Ex. 4 and B-Ex. 5 to the city attorney and the police department regarding the ownership of the business.

In aggravation, the respondent has a very significant prior disciplinary history [Standard 9.22(a)].

In 1986, the respondent received a private reprimand administered without a board appearance for trust account record keeping violations. <u>The Florida Bar v. Dunagan</u>, TFB Case No.

07A86C54.

In 1987, the respondent received a public reprimand and six months probation for entering into a business transaction with a client. The Florida Bar v. Dunagan, 509 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1987). The respondent represented a client in selling or renting her real property. Although the respondent intended for the warranty deed to be held in trust, he never prepared any trust documents. He directed the client to execute the warranty deed and a power of attorney. Thereafter, the respondent failed to account to the client for collected rents. He later purchased the property from the client for a small sum of money plus payment of existing liens and in consideration for cash advances he had made to the client. He did not advise the client to seek independent counsel prior to entering into the transaction.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Dunagan</u>, 565 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 1990), the respondent was suspended for a period of sixty days for again engaging in a conflict of interest situation with clients. He represented a married couple over a long period of time in various matters. The clients became concerned about the respondent's bills. They were delinquent on paying their account

and the respondent had begun charging them interest, without their prior knowledge or consent, in such a manner that he was charging interest on each month's total rather than on each month's principal balance. This resulted in the respondent charging a usurious amount of interest. Due to increasing financial problems, the client decided to take out a loan. The respondent prepared one loan closing document and obtained some of the pay off figures for the clients. He also included the amount he was owed for past due attorney's fees on the loan closing statement without their prior knowledge or consent. The clients discovered the inclusion of the attorney's fees only at the closing and reluctantly elected to proceed with the closing only to avoid incurring the closing expenses. The respondent represented the clients at the loan closing where he intended to received payment from the loan proceeds for the debt the clients owed him.

Also in aggravation, the respondent has considerable experience as a lawyer, having been admitted to the bar in 1970, [Standard 9.22(c)]; and Ms. Leucht was particularly vulnerable because she considered the respondent to be her attorney and relied on his advice (T Vol. I p.p. 38, 88, 90) until after she

called the respondent's office after the petition for dissolution of marriage had been filed and she learned for the first time that he was representing William Leucht [Standard 9.22(h)]. In making his recommendation, the referee did consider the respondent's mitigating factors (T of May 7, 1998, p. 5) of personal or emotional problems [Standard 9.23(c)], physical or mental disability or impairment [Standard 9.23(h)], character or reputation for providing pro bono services [Standard 9.23 (g)], and the fact that Ms. Leucht suffered no prejudice from the respondent's actions. The bar submits the referee was correct in his conclusion that these mitigating factors do not overcome the cumulative nature of the respondent's misconduct.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar prays this Honorable Court will accept the referee's findings of fact and recommendations and enter an order suspending the respondent for 91 days and thereafter until he proves rehabilitation and direct that he pay the bar's costs now totaling \$2,327.89.